PERSONAL FINANCIAL STRATEGIES

RICHARD C. STEELE

HOW IS INSURANCE SOLD
RENT OP BUY
TYPES OF MORTGAGES
WHY SAVE AND INVEST
CALLADA SAVINGS BONDS
WHY BUY STOCKS
WHAT IS A WAS JAL FULLD
DO I FIFF A WILLIAM

PERSONAL FINANCIAL STRATEGIES

Richard. C. Steele Fanshawe College



Addison-Wesley Publishers Limited
Don Mills, Ontario • Reading, Massachusetts
Menlo Park, California • New York • Wokingham, England
Amsterdam • Bonn • Sydney • Singapore • Tokyo • Madrid
San Juan • Paris • Seoul • Milan • Mexico City • Taipei

Publisher: Joseph Gladstone Managing Editor: Linda Scott Editor: Leah A. Johnson Designer: Anthony Leung Page Layout: New Concept

Production Coordinator: Wendy Moran

Manufacturing Coordinator: Sharon Latta Paterson

Cover Design: Anthony Leung

Printing and Binding: The Bryant Press Limited

Reviewers: The authors and publishers are grateful to the following people for their insightful comments on the initial draft of this manuscript:

Ted Khal, Dawson College Dieter Loerick, John Abbott College Dan McKay, SIAST, Palliser Institute Bill Thomas, Sheridan College

Canadian Cataloguing in Publication Data

Steele, Richard C., 1937-Personal financial strategies

Includes index. ISBN 0-201-89250-2

1. Finance, Personal. I. Title.

HG179.S74 1996

332.024

C96-930568-0

Copyright © 1996 Addison-Wesley Publishers Limited

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, or stored in a database or retrieval system, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the publisher.

ISBN 0-201-89250-2

Printed and bound in Canada.

Preface

Thirty years of my life had passed before I began to realize that money was simply more than a means to satisfy immediate wants. Although I had completed four post-secondary years of a business program, I felt completely inadequate to the task of personal financial management.

I thought that financial planning was an activity left to the rich or retired. Being neither, I had an exemption from the need to plan my financial future. What I soon realized was that financial security was directly related to financial planning, and success with your dollars was a function of knowledge. Failing to learn and plan was equivalent to planning to fail. And no one consciously plans to fail—or do they?

You have probably heard that it takes as much energy to fail as to succeed. Then why do so many people needlessly fail in their financial lives? Statistics lend support to the fact that over 80 percent of Canadians at retirement will rely on the inadequate social security net for the major source of their support through their "golden" years—a sad commentary on an unnecessary situation.

Ignorance is not bliss—especially in financial matters. Why do our educational institutions spend so little time to prepare for personal financial success? Probably for the same reason they spend so little time teaching other essential life skills. It is incorrectly assumed the skills will be learned automatically through positive life experiences.

My personal financial education began through the school of hard knocks since it was the only school available at the time. My first bad learning experience not only cost me thousands of dollars, but also put my family at serious financial risk.

The object of this publication is to provide you with financial strategies so that you do not become a victim of the money game.

Good planning leads to financial freedom. Make the choice to . . .

PLAN TO SUCCEED!

Richard C. Steele Fanshawe College March, 1996

Table of Contents

Chapter 1 Money Management Equals Time Management/1

Winning the Game/2

The Management of Time/2

Ten Rules of Effective Time Management/3

The Short- and the Long-Term/7

The Daily Journal/7

Risk Management/8

Work Smart, Not Hard/8

Winning Tips and Strategies/9

Chapter Summary/9

Key Terms and Concepts/10

Questions for Discussion/10

Projects/11

Chapter 2 The Psychology of Money/13

Identifying Values and Goals/14

Discovering Our Personal Financial Needs/15

Stages of the Financial Life Cycle/18

Facing the Future in the Twenty-First Century/19

Winning Tips and Strategies/21

Chapter Summary/21

Key Terms and Concepts/22

Questions for Discussion/22

Chapter 3 Financial Planning: A Do-It-Yourself Project/24

What Is a Financial Plan?/25

Reasons for Procrastination/25

When Should I Begin?/26

The Personal Tragedy/26

Why We Don't Plan/26

The Payback to Financial Planning/27

The Process of Financial Planning/28

Additional Basic Tools of Financial Planning/35

The Computer/37

The Financial Advisors in Your Life/38

Winning Tips and Strategies/40

Chapter Summary/40

Key Terms and Concepts/40

Questions for Discussion/41

Projects/42

Application Problems/42

Chapter 4 Managing Your Money and Credit/46

Credit/47 Loans/48

The Magic Plastic: Credit Cards/58 Winning Tips and Strategies/62

Chapter Summary/62

Key Terms and Concepts/63 Questions for Discussion/63

Projects/65

Chapter 5 The Marketplace: Knowledge Is Power/67

The Consumer Reporting Act/68
The Consumer Protection Act/68
Racket Squad: Where Are You?/69
Getting Assistance With Consumer Problems/72
Other Tricks of the Trade/73
A Lawyer for Hire/74
Winning Consumer Strategies/77
Chapter Summary/77

Key Terms and Concepts/77 Questions for Discussion/78

Chapter 6 Personal Taxes in Canada/79

A Short History of Our Tax System/80
Personal Taxes/80
Tax Credits/82
Time Value of Money and MTR/84
Interest, Dividends, and Capital Gains/84
Effective Tax Planning Strategies/85
So You've Been Selected for an Audit/90
Winning Tips and Strategies/91
Chapter Summary/91
Key Terms and Concepts/92
Questions for Discussion/92
Projects/94

Chapter 7 A Topic of Interest/96

What Is This Thing Called Interest?/97 Interest Computation Methods/101 Prepayment Penalties/102 The Bank Rate of Interest/103 The Prime Rate of Interest/104 The Magic of Interest/104 Factors That Determine the Rate of Interest/105
Making It Tax-Deductible/107
Basic Mathematical Concepts/107
Winning Tips and Strategies/110
Chapter Summary/110
Key Terms and Concepts/110
Questions for Discussion/111
Application Problems/112
Projects/113

Chapter 8 Winning the Automobile Game/114

Favourite Selling Techniques/117
New or Used?/119
The Financing Decision/121
To Buy or to Lease/121
The Insurance Decision/123
No-Fault Auto Insurance/126
Winning Tips and Strategies/129
Chapter Summary/129
Key Terms and Concepts/130
Questions for Discussion/130

Chapter 9 General Insurance/132

A Brief History/133
This Business of Insurance/133
How Do People Buy Insurance?/133
How Should People Buy Insurance?/134
The Cost of Homeowners' Insurance/134
Saving Dollars/134
General Insurance/135
How Insurance Works/136
Winning Tips and Strategies/141
Chapter Summary/141
Key Terms and Concepts/142
Questions for Discussion/142

Chapter 10 Life Insurance/144

A Brief Historical Perspective/145
A Financial Tragedy/145
Life or Death Insurance?/145
A Typical Policy/146
How Insurance Is Sold/146
What's Available From the Insurance Industry?/146

What Should We Buy?/150
How Much Protection Is Enough?/150
Insurance and Changing Life Stages/151
The Cost of Insurance/152
The Ultimate Objective/153
Winning Tips and Strategies/154
Chapter Summary/154
Key Terms and Concepts/154
Questions for Discussion/155
Projects/156

Chapter 11 The Housing Decision/157

The Changing Market/158
How We Hold Land/158
Forms of Housing/159
The Decision to Rent or Buy/160
Leasing Your Shelter/160
Advantages of Home Ownership/162
The Mortgage Maze/164
Winning Tips and Strategies/171
Chapter Summary/171
Key Terms and Concepts/172
Questions for Discussion/173

Chapter 12 An Introduction to Investments/175

Why Many Investors Lose Most of the Time/176
How to Win the Game/176
The Financial Box of Risk and Return/177
Why Save and Invest?/178
When Does Saving Become Investing?/179
The Corporation/179
The Corporate Structure/180
The Annual Report/180
Money and Capital Markets/183
Investment Dealers and Stock Brokers/184
Becoming an Educated Investor/185
Winning Tips and Strategies/186
Chapter Summary/186
Key Terms and Concepts/187
Questions for Discussion/187

Chapter 13 Debt Investments/189

Savings and Chequing Deposits/190

Canada Savings Bonds/190

The Money Market/190

Guaranteed Investment Certificates and Term Deposits/191

Treasury Bills/191

Bonds/192

Winning Tips and Strategies/197

Chapter Summary/197

Key Terms and Concepts/198

Questions for Discussion/198

Chapter 14 Investments: Stocks and Mutual Funds/200

Stock Exchanges/201

Buying Stocks/202

Types of Stocks/204

Taxation/206

Mutual Funds as Investment Vehicles/206

A Closing Word/212

Winning Tips and Strategies/213

Chapter Summary/213

Key Terms and Concepts/214

Questions for Discussion/215

Chapter 15 Retirement and Estate Planning/217

But I'm Too Young to Be Concerned!/218

Why Do We Procrastinate?/218

What Can We Do Now?/219

Surviving Retirement/219

Four RRSP Options/225

Estate Planning/227

Power of Attorney (POA)/231

Trusts/231

Taxation and Retirement/231

Winning Tips and Strategies/232

Chapter Summary/232

Key Terms and Concepts/233

Questions for Discussion/233

Appendix A Interest Tables/237

Appendix B Sample Amortization Schedule/241

Appendix C Mortgage Interest Factors/243

Index/245

ime management is life management. We each have a fixed time allotment of 168 hours a week. The successful do not have a greater allowance of time than the unsuccessful. Plan to succeed or you may lose by default. Learn the winning strategies that will allow you to live life to the fullest extent. Even more important than learning the strategies is learning how to apply them.

CHAPTER 1

Knowledge without action is often futile. It is action that produces financial independence.

MONEYMANAGEMENT EQUALS TIME MANAGEMENT

Did you know that in just two days tomorrow will be yesterday? How time passes!

THE END OF KNOWLEDGE SHOULD BE ACTION.

Yesterday is a cancelled cheque.
Tomorrow is a promissory note.
Today is ready cash. Use it.

-Anon-

You have heard it said that time equals money. In a real sense it should be reworded to say that time equals opportunity. Time is an important asset that should be used as the raw material to achieve our current objectives and our life-long goals. People often complain that they cannot find the time for anything. Time, however, is never lost. It is always there. If we want time, we must plan for it.

This may seem an unusual chapter to include in a text on personal finance. It has been included to emphasize that efficient time management skills are essential to the effective management of our personal resources. This includes the successful management of our money.

REMEMBER THAT TIME IS OPPORTUNITY.

Winning the Game

At first, it may seem strange to think of personal financial management as a "game" to be won or lost. We tend to think of games as activities on a sports field, or around a card table. Money management is like a game, however, because there are certain strategies or rules we can pursue which should guarantee success over the long run. Most people think they have the option to decide not to play the game. Unfortunately, these people simply lose by default because the game still goes on without them. Their decision not to play is a decision that guarantees failure.

INDECISION IS A DECISION.

The first step towards achieving success with our personal, academic and financial lives is to understand how we might control and manage our time.

The Management of Time

Money management is, in a way, really effective time management. Time is a commodity which is potentially an equal-opportunity employer. Although some people For a ship that has no port, no wind is the right one.

-Seneca-

have more money, no one has the advantage of more hours in the day. We are each assigned the same number of hours. How we use the hours is the raw material of potential success. Unfortunately, many people allow time to manage their lives rather than managing time to achieve their personal priorities.

Seminars and books on the subject of time management are plentiful. Corporations hire consultants to train their employees in the art of efficient time control. They realize that the systematic allocation of time makes the employee more productive because it avoids many problems caused by ineffective time-management habits. It also makes work easier and more pleasant.

Ten Rules of Effective Time Management

1. Maintain Daily To-Do Lists

Develop the habit of writing down your daily to-do list. This will help you focus on what you wish to achieve each day. It will also assist in maintaining control over your priorities. If we don't set our own priorities, our day will default to the priorities of others.

A study of people who are financially successful credit this simple but effective strategy for a major part of their success. Each day they determine how they are going to use the available hours by writing down their daily objectives in their journal. Then they number the objectives to establish priorities of accomplishment.

Alan Lakein in his book *How to Get Control of Your Time and Your Life* suggests an "ABC" system to set up priorities. He suggests placing a capital letter "A" beside those items of high value, "B" beside items of middle value and a "C" beside low-value objectives. Obviously, we should try to achieve as many of the "A" items as possible. But what do we often do? We begin with the items of "C" value because they are either "nice-to-do" or "easy-to-do." Our more important or "must-do" objectives become victims of our personal weakness to do that which we perceive to be more valuable at the moment.

Make a daily to-do list a habit of your life even if your daily objective is simply to go fishing. It is as important to plan your leisure activities as it is to plan your financial life.

PLAN TOMORROW TODAY.

2. Set Goals and Objectives

Continually identify goals and objectives. What is it that we wish to achieve with our time and our life? Objectives are often the short-term accomplishments that help us achieve our longer-term goals. For example, the accumulation of \$30,000 in the next five years for the purchase of a home might be our goal. The objectives would include the financial decisions that must be made to achieve the savings goal. Successful people plan their success. Plan to succeed.

3. Set Priorities

Establish achievement priorities. Determine what is the most productive use of your time now. Don't spend prime time on secondary objectives. Although setting priorities will identify what is important to be done, it is even more significant in that it will eliminate what is not important.

We can't do everything at the same time. In fact, if we try we often end up achieving only a level of frustration which interferes with bringing our time under control. We must plan our work and then work the established plan.

We can categorize our objectives for what we want to achieve with our time in three ways: (1) must-do or urgent, (2) should-do, and (3) nice-to-do. There is a tendency to concentrate on the nice-to-do items simply because they are easy to do and we like doing them. In truth, we could probably ignore them completely without major consequences. Watching television tends to fall into this category. We enjoy the activity, but it may not be the best use of our time at the time.

TV SERVES BEST AS A TRANQUILLIZER.

Television tends to shift the mind, at best, into a neutral mode or, at worst, off completely. Don't try to use the tube as a warm-up for productive activity. It serves better as a tranquillizer. According to statistics, the average Canadian spends (not invests) over 25 hours per week as a couch potato in front of the TV. Consider for a moment how that time might be used to pursue other, more rewarding, must-do objectives.

Are You Hooked on the Wonderful World of Video?

You have had a full day on the job or at school. You have just finished dinner. Your body is craving a little rest and relaxation. You know you have an assignment due tomorrow, but

you have earned a little diversion; it has been a busy day. The television is already at the watch position: you joined the TV-slave society years ago by learning that the tube must be on whenever you are present. So why not relax for a few minutes before getting down to work? The hook is out and you have been snared.

4. Begin

Make the decision to start the job. Avoid spinning your wheels with one of life's biggest time-wasters: procrastination. The most difficult part of any job is the job of getting started. The only way to overcome this inertia is to plan to BEGIN. Make an appointment with yourself in your planning diary to take the first step. After all, the longest journey does begin with a single step.

BE WISE, BEGIN.

It is also important to complete the projects you begin. An observation has been made that a job well-begun is a job half-done. Once you start a job, either complete it or take it as far as you possibly can. Duplicating start-up time often wastes time because it duplicates effort. If the job is too large to complete at one time, break the large job into smaller components which you can complete more easily.

5. Set Completion Deadlines

Set completion deadlines for tasks to be finished. Parkinson's Law suggests that the time required to complete a job expands to fill the time available. Set a reasonable time to complete the job at hand, then strive for closure.

6. Concentrate and Realize the Value of Uninterrupted Time

Recognize the importance of uninterrupted time to achieve today's objectives. Don't let the demands of others set your priorities. Many people find that working at home allows them to concentrate on the job at hand. Try to control the interruptions of life. Start-up time on a job is often substantial. Momentum may be lost. Identify your prime working time in the day and reserve it for objectives of high significance.

7. Don't Be a Paper Shuffler

Handle each piece of paper only once. Make a decision. If in doubt, throw it out. Don't allow indecision to turn your desk into a paper drive. If you need the information for future use, file it where it can be easily retrieved.

8. Learn to Delegate

We soon learn in life that we cannot do it all ourselves. By delegating to others we have more time for our own high-priority tasks. Don't fall into the trap of assuming that nobody except you can do a quality job. Learn to delegate.

9. Become Effective Rather Than Efficient

At first glance, the two words seem to mean the same thing. The world, however, has a surplus of efficient people, but fewer who are really effective. The efficient person does the job right; the effective person does the right job. Concentrate on becoming effective in the pursuit of your goals in life. Identify the job that needs to be done, then do it. Do the must-do jobs now; leave the nice-to-do jobs for a later time.

> EFFICIENT PERSONS DO THE JOB RIGHT. EFFECTIVE PERSONS DO THE RIGHT JOB.

10. Develop Learning Skills

Learning skills are really "learning-how-to-learn" skills. These proficiencies are essential both in school and throughout the lives of most people who wish to earn personal and financial success. Unfortunately, many never learn how to learn. It is assumed that we will gain these skills in the same way we learned how to breathe. It is essential that we determine how we best assimilate information. A few simple but practical suggestions include:

- **Preview.** Determine in advance what the seminar or topic for discussion will be. Include this on your to-do list for review the night before.
- **Listen.** Listening is a skill which can be developed by a learner. Seat yourself where you are able to concentrate, usually near the front of the class. Focus attention on the main message of the speaker. Ask questions when the opportunity presents itself. Write down a summary of the main points. Learning is often a function of effective listening.
- **Take Notes.** Many students offer a number of reasons for not taking notes in
 - 1. My neighbour is not taking notes.
 - 2. I don't know how to organize my notes.
 - 3. It's all in the text.
 - 4. I'm confused.
 - 5. It's really not important.
 - 6. Insert your favourite reason here.

Effective note-taking is important as a stimulant to the learning process. It keeps your mind at a high level of awareness. Even TV viewing would change from a soporific experience if we were required to keep notes. Add a reminder to your to-do list to organize the day's notes that very evening.

Personalize Your Textbook. Transform the textbook into a useful study tool by developing a system for marking important information. Underline the questions rather than the answers to the questions. The book should encourage us to think rather than simply to read the author's answer to a question or a problem. Make

- notes in the margins. Circle any thoughts that need further clarification. Do not use the hi-liner as a decorating tool; if the author had wanted the pages to be pink he would have selected that colour for the paper.
- **Ask Questions.** Most instructors welcome questions from the listening audience. Be prepared to ask for clarification of information at any time. An active listener should also be an active questioner.
- **Review.** Before each class, review the information from the previous class. Prepare any questions for clarification.

PLAY TO WIN, OR LOSE BY DEFAULT.

The Short-and the Long-Term

Without the short-term there is no long-term, since the long-term is really a series of short-terms. Many people claim to live their lives on a day-by-day basis. That's fine as long as they realize the danger of being too focused on the short-term. It may interfere with the achievement of significant long-term goals. Do you know someone who claims that a major goal in life is to own a home (long-term) but who continues to sabotage this objective by a regular decision to buy a new car (short-term)? Is the long-term gain worth the short-term pain? Sometimes short-term sacrifices are needed to achieve long-term goals.

DON'T ALLOW THE SHORT-TERM
TO INTERFERE WITH THE LONG-TERM.

The Daily Journal

If you plan to do it, write it down to be sure it becomes part of your focus of activities. Diaries or daily planners are essential for control over our personal schedule of meetings, telephone calls and anniversaries, and to remind us of what we plan to do with the day, the week or the year. We can also use them for miscellaneous notes and thoughts, including a place to record tax-deductible expenses. An all-purpose book might include room for our credit cards and cheque book. Many business people won't leave home without their daily organizer. It allows us to exercise some control over our lives rather than allowing circumstances to exercise control over us.

To get profit without risk Experience without danger Reward without work Is as impossible as it is
To live without being born.

-A. Gouthev-

For the computer-minded planners, there are many software programs or personal information managers (PIMs) for the desktop personal computer that will assist in the organization of the day. They include the capability to record names, addresses, phone numbers, appointments, to-do lists, general notes and to plan indefinitely into the future. You might even use the computer to dial phone numbers, send a fax, or print out your schedule for the day, week or month. The market also offers the same capabilities in a pocket version of a daily planner.

Risk Management

Risk is part of the process of improving life. To accept risk is to accept the possibility of personal or financial loss in exchange for the potential achievement of our goals and objectives.

The concept of acceptable and unacceptable risk is important. Only we can determine our level of acceptable risk. We must be willing to accept the risk of failure in our attempt to be successful. If failure occurs, regard it as a temporary setback in the journey towards our destination — the achievement of financial independence.

Work Smart, Not Hard

Well-arranged time is the surest mark of a wellarranged mind. -PitmanMost learners have to work hard because they do not take the time to master the tools of success. Work smart! Take the time to become an effective learner. Before we begin a job we should consider how we might achieve our purpose in the most effective way.